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Motion to Dismiss, to Gag, and for Change of Venue

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR

THE ____________ DISTRICT OF ____________

united states of america

)




Plaintiff,


)
CASE NO. __________



v.



)

MD





)
DEFENDANT’S




Defendant.

)
PRE-TRIAL MOTIONS

AND NOW COMES Defendant MD, by his attorney, ____________, and files the following pre-trial motions, further support for which is found in the attached Exhibits and Brief.

MOTION TO GAG JOHN ASHCROFT

1. On September 11, 2001, this country endured the worst loss of civilian life ever inflicted on it by a hostile foreign force. The people of this country are furious and demand retribution.

On September 25, the day before Mr. D was arrested, the Attorney General suggested that he and the other hazmat defendants were in league with the terrorists who crashed four airplanes into the World Trade Centers, the Pentagon, and the ground at Shanksville, in this District. Mr. Ashcroft claimed that the impending arrest of the hazmat defendants would prevent future terrorist attacks on American citizens. See Exhibit A.
Since then, more responsible government officials, including the Director of the FBI, U.S. Attorney _____, and AUSA _____ all have publicly stated that there is no reason to believe that Mr. D or the other hazmat defendants are terrorists. See Exhibit B.

On _____, FBI agents showed up at Mr. D’s home to arrest him. Correctly believing that Mr. D was a law-abiding American citizen, they had his cousin call him, for he was on the road on a trucking job. Mr. D turned around and drove home to meet the agents at his home in Seattle, Washington.

The government consented to his release on an unsecured bond in the Western District of Washington on _____ and trusted that he would travel to Pittsburgh for his initial appearance. He did. Neither in Seattle nor in Pittsburgh did the government suggest that he was a terrorist or that his prosecution or detention was necessary to protect America from terrorist attacks.

Nevertheless, on _____, Mr. Ashcroft once again suggested publicly that the hazmat defendants were terrorists and that their prosecution was necessary to protect our country. Concurrent with this press conference, DOJ released to the press a list of the 104 individuals charged in this successful campaign. Twenty of them were the hazmat defendants. See Exhibit C.

Mr. Ashcroft’s statements have created a substantial likelihood of materially prejudicing prospective jurors. For the sake of justice, he must be gagged.

MOTION TO DISMISS THE INDICTMENT FOR PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT

The grand jury voted on and returned the indictment in this case on _____, just nine days after Mr. Ashcroft’s erroneous statements linking the defendant to the September 11 terrorist attacks.

The publicity surrounding the September 11 attacks and Mr. Ashcroft’s recklessly false statements affected the grand jury and prevented a fair and impartial review of the evidence. While the publicity about terrorists in general was not attributable to the prosecution, the nation’s highest ranking law enforcement official himself directed that publicity, and the hatred attending it, at the hazmat defendants. His remarks violated the Fifth Amendment right to an impartial grand jury and the McDade Act, 28 U.S.C. §530B, and federal regulations, 28 C.F.R. §50.2. They merit dismissal of the indictment.

MOTION FOR DISCLOSURE OF GRAND JURY TRANSCRIPTS PURSUANT TO RULE 6(e)(3)(C)(ii)

In the alternative, the Court should order disclosure of all grand jury transcripts, including instructions and any colloquy or voir dire, to determine whether the publicity influenced the grand jury.

MOTION PURSUANT TO RULE 17 FOR THE ISSUANCE OF A SUBPOENA DUCES TECUM TO PENNDOT

Rule 17(b) authorizes the issuance of subpoenas without the payment of costs on court order where a defendant is unable to pay costs. Rule 17(c) provides that a subpoena duces tecum may require documents to be produced before trial if the court so orders.

We request that a subpoena duces tecum be issued to the Pennsylvania Department of Transportation for all records of commercial drivers licenses with hazardous material certifications issued by _____ for the time period—from _____ (when the first license was issued) to _____, and subsequently revoked.

Mr. D has been unable to secure employment since his arrest and cannot afford the costs of a subpoena.

These documents will show if individuals of other than Middle Eastern ancestry improperly obtained licenses from _____. If they did and were not prosecuted, that would be compelling evidence that Mr. D and the other hazmat defendants were singled out for prosecution because of their ethnicity, a violation of equal protection and grounds for dismissal of this case. See Yick Wo v. Hopkins, 118 U.S. 356 (1886).

MOTION FOR CHANGE OF VENUE AND APPOINTMENT OF VENUE CONSULTANT

Mr. Ashcroft’s remarks, compounded by the angry publicity arising from the September 11 terrorist attacks and the special effect those attacks had in this district with the crash of Flight 93, have generated inflammatory and inherently prejudicial publicity that may prevent the defendant from getting a fair trial in this district in violation of the Sixth Amendment and Fed.R.Crim.P. 21(a).

Mr. D asks the Court to appoint a venue expert, Professor _____, to assist in conducting a survey of public attitudes in this district and an alternative survey and an analysis of the pre-trial publicity. Professor _____’s CV is attached as Exhibit E.







Respectfully submitted,







_____________________________







Thomas J. Farrell

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR

THE ____________ DISTRICT OF ____________

united states of america




Plaintiff,


CASE NO. __________



v.

MD




Defendant.

ORDER OF COURT

AND NOW, this ______ day of _______________, 2002, upon consideration of Defendant D’s pre-trial motions, IT IS ORDERED THAT:

The Indictment is dismissed;

Professor _____ is appointed to conduct a change of venue analysis;

A subpoena shall issue the PennDOT for records of all commercial driver’s licenses issued by _____ between _____ and _____;

The Government shall disclose to the defense the transcripts of all grand jury proceedings in this matter; and

The parties and attorneys in this case, including Attorney General John Ashcroft, shall be bound by the following gag order:

A. None of the lawyers appearing in this case or any persons associated with them, including any persons with supervisory authority over them, will release or authorize the release of information or opinion about this criminal proceeding which a reasonable person would expect to be disseminated by any means of public communication, if there is a reasonable likelihood that such disclosure will interfere with a fair trial of the pending charges or otherwise prejudice the due administration of justice.

B. This duty to refrain from prejudicial disclosures requires all counsel to take reasonable precautions to prevent all persons who have been or are now participants in or associated with the investigations conducted by the prosecution and defense from making any statements or releasing any documents that are not in the public record and that are reasonably expected to be publicly disseminated which would be likely to materially prejudice the fairness of this criminal proceeding.

C. None of the lawyers appearing in this case or any persons associated with them, including any persons having supervisory authority over them, shall release or authorize the release of any extrajudicial statement which a reasonable person would expect to be disseminated by any means of public communication, concerning any of the following matters related to this case:

(1) The prior criminal record (including arrests, indictments, or other charges of crime), or the character or reputation of the defendants.

(2) The existence or contents of any statements given by the defendants to any law enforcement personnel or the refusal or failure of the defendants to make any statements to law enforcement personnel.

(3) The performance of any examinations or tests or any defendant’s refusal or failure to submit to any examination, or test.

(4) The identity, testimony, or credibility of all prospective witnesses.

(5) The possibility of a plea of guilty to the offenses charged or a lesser offense.

(6) Any opinion as to the guilt or innocence of the defendants or as to the merits of the case or the quality or quantity of evidence as to any charge in the case.

D. The foregoing shall not be construed to prevent any of the lawyers appearing in this case or any persons associated with them, including any persons having supervisory authority over them, from quoting or referring without comment to public records of the court in the case; from announcing the scheduling or result of any step in the judicial process; from requesting assistance in obtaining evidence; or from announcing, without further comment, that the defendants deny all charges made against them.

E. Before the trial jury is empanelled, none of the lawyers in this case or those associated with them, including those with supervisory powers over them, shall give or authorize any extrajudicial statement or interview relating to the trial or the parties or issues in the trial, which a reasonable person would expect to be disseminated by means of public communication if there is a reasonable likelihood that such dissemination will interfere with a fair trial, except that a lawyer may quote from or refer without comment to public records of the court in the case and may give such explanations of pleadings and hearings as may assist the public in understanding the legal issues being presented and the relationship of any hearing or ruling to the trial process without expressing any opinions as to the merits of the positions and arguments of any party or giving any predictions concerning the expected result.








______________________








U.S. District Judge

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR

THE ____________ DISTRICT OF ____________

united states of america




Plaintiff,


CASE NO. __________



v.

MD




Defendant.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT MD IN SUPPORT OF PRE-TRIAL MOTIONS

MD, a refugee from Saddam Hussein’s Iraq and a naturalized American citizen, is charged in a one-count indictment with aiding and abetting the production, without lawful authority, of a Pennsylvania commercial driver’s license (“CDL”) with a hazardous materials endorsement (“HDE”). 18 U.S.C. §1028(a)(1). The government’s theory appears to be that Mr. D received his license on _____, from _____, a PennDOT examiner, who solicited bribes for issuing licenses without administering the required tests to a number of individuals brought to him by one _____. Twenty of these individuals, all Iraqi immigrants, have been indicted separately on the same charge as Mr. D. As far as the defense is aware, however, there is no evidence that Mr. D either paid a bribe or dealt with _____.

ARGUMENT

I.
The Court Should Issue an Order Prohibiting the Parties and All Department of Justice Employees and Officials From Commenting Publicly on This Case

On September 11, 2001, this country endured the worst loss of civilian life ever inflicted on it by a hostile foreign force. The people of this country are furious and demand retribution.

On _____, the day before Mr. D was arrested, the Attorney General suggested that he and the other Hazmat defendants were in league with the terrorists who crashed four airplanes into the World Trade Centers, the Pentagon, and the ground at Shanksville, in this District. Mr. Ashcroft claimed that the impending arrest of the Hazmat defendants would prevent future terrorist attacks on American citizens:

...The danger that darkened the United States of America and the civilized world on September 11 did not pass with the atrocities committed that day. Terrorism is a clear and present danger to Americans today.

Intelligence information available to the FBI indicates a potential for additional terrorist incidents. I testified before the House Judiciary Committee yesterday regarding the possibility of attacks using crop dusting aircraft.

Today I can report to you that our investigation has uncovered several individuals, including individuals who may have links to the hijackers, who fraudulently have obtained, or attempted to obtain, hazardous material transportation licenses.

See Exhibit A (Testimony of Attorney General John Ashcroft, Senate Committee on the Judiciary, September 25, 2001, available on the Department of Justice website at www.usdoj.gov/ag/speeches/
2001/agcrisisremarks9_25.htm)

After his arrest, Mr. D appeared before a Magistrate Judge in the Western District of Washington. The government did not allege that he was a terrorist; rather, it agreed to his release on an unsecured bond so that he could travel to this district to face the charges against him. No allegation of a link to terrorism was made at the bail hearings of any of the other 19 Hazmat defendants, and all eventually were released on bail.

Since Mr. Ashcroft’s imprudent remarks, more responsible government officials, including the Director of the FBI, U.S. Attorney _____, and AUSA _____ all have publicly stated that there is no reason to believe that Mr. D or the other Hazmat defendants are terrorists. See Exhibit B.

Nevertheless, on _____, Mr. Ashcroft once again suggested publicly that the Hazmat defendants were terrorists and that their prosecution was necessary to protect our country. After crediting the Department of Justice for the absence of terrorist attacks after September 11, Mr. Ashcroft described how DOJ attained its goal:

As I’ve discussed previously, the Department of Justice is now focused on two important priorities: First, finding those responsible for the horrific acts of September the 11th; and second and more importantly, making sure that we prevent any further terrorist activity. Through dozens of warnings to law enforcement, a delicate campaign and a deliberate campaign of terrorist disruption, tighter security around potential targets, with arrests and detentions, we have avoided further major terrorist attacks, and we’ve avoided these further major terrorist attacks despite threats and videotape taunting. America’s defenses have grown stronger.

We are standing firm in our commitment to protect American lives. The Department of Justice is waging a deliberate campaign of arrest and detention to protect American lives. We’re removing suspected terrorists who violate the law from our streets to prevent further terrorist attacks. We believe we have Al Qaeda membership in custody, and we will use every constitutional tool to keep suspected terrorists locked up.

The department has charged 104 individuals on federal criminal charges. 

Exhibit C (remarks of Attorney General Ashcroft at Press Conference, November 27, 2001, available on the DOJ website at www.usdoj.gov/ag/speeches/2001/agcrisisremarks11_27.htm).

Concurrent with this press conference, DOJ released to the press a list of the 104 individuals charged in this successful campaign. Twenty of them were the Hazmat defendants, including Mr. D. (Torsten Ove, “Ashcroft List Dominated by Men Swept Up in Local Probe,” Pittsburgh Post-Gazette, November 29, 2001 (available at www.postgazette.com/headlines/20011129localmen1129p2.asp). Mr. Ashcroft’s prepared remarks suggested to readers and listeners that Mr. D’s arrest and indictment were part of the “deliberate campaign of terrorist disruption” and that those charges served “to protect American lives ... [and] prevent further terrorist attack…..”

The right to a fair and impartial fact-finder is paramount in our criminal justice system. To protect this right, “a trial judge has an affirmative duty to minimize the effects of prejudicial pre-trial publicity.” Gannett Co. v. DePasquale, 443 U.S. 368, 378 (1978). The protections may include issuance of a gag order against lawyers and litigants where there is a “substantial likelihood of material prejudice” from extrajudicial statements. United States v. Scarfo, 263 F.3d 80, 90 (3d Cir. 2001) (quoting Gentile v. State Bar of Nev., 501 U.S. 1030, 1075 (1991)). Gag orders may be issued more freely against lawyers both because the disciplinary rules notify lawyers of similar restrictions on attorney speech, see Rule of Professional Conduct 3.6, and because of the risk that the public and potential jurors will place confidence in the accuracy of statements from lawyers familiar with the case. Scarfo, 263 F.2d at 90.

The Attorney General’s remarks violated Rule 3.6 of both the Pennsylvania and Missouri disciplinary rules as well as 28 C.F.R. §50.2, which forbid even accurate pre-trial comments when they “materially prejudice” a proceeding, Rule 3.6(a), or “may reasonably be expected to influence the outcome of a pending or future trial,” 28 C.F.R. §50.2.1 Among the remarks that both the rule and regulation absolutely prohibit are those which describe the character of the defendant. A statement that the defendant may have engaged in other serious criminal activity (such as terrorism) is a statement about character. See FRE 405(b).

Mr. Ashcroft’s remarks violated the further requirement of 28 C.F.R. §50.2 that any public remarks “should include only incontrovertible, factual matters, and should not include subjective observations. In addition, where background information or information relating to the circumstances of an arrest or investigation would be highly prejudicial ... such information should not be made public.” Section 50.2(b)(3). His remarks linking the Hazmat defendants to the September 11 terrorists were not only controvertible, they were false. It is incontrovertible that the remarks were “highly prejudicial.”

To prevent Mr. Ashcroft from doing more harm, we ask that the Court enter an order identical to that entered in the Oklahoma bombing case, see United States v. McVeigh,2 931 F.Supp. 756, 760-61 (D.Colorado 1996).

Mr. Ashcroft’s Statements Should be Met With Dismissal of the Indictment, Both as a Remedy for Violation of the Defendant’s Right to a Fair and Impartial Grand Jury and as an Exercise of the Court’s Supervisory Power to Enforce Violations of 28 U.S.C. §530B

Mr. Ashcroft’s September 25 comments were made before the grand jury voted on the indictment on October 5. These comments violated Mr. D’s right to an impartial grand jury. The Court should dismiss the indictment, or in the alternative, order disclosure of the transcript of the grand jury instructions, colloquoys, and testimony. See Point III, infra.
The Fifth Amendment demands that the grand jury that votes on an indictment be unbiased. United States v. Serubo, 604 F.2d 807, 816 (3d Cir. 1979). “[A]ssociat[ing] the defendants with a disfavored criminal class” offends the Fifth Amendment’s mandate, United States v. Serubo, 604 F.2d at 818 (La Cosa Nostra), as does the dissemination to the news media of information considered likely to generate public animus against the potential defendants, United States v. Sweig, 314 F.Supp. 1148, 1153-54 (S.D.N.Y. 1970)(Frankel, J.). To the extent that Mr. Ashcroft’s statements reached the grand jury, they violated Mr. D’s right to an unbiased grand jury.

Mr. Ashcroft’s remarks violated not only the Constitution, but both federal regulations and statutes. Congress has elevated state ethics rules into federal law. Section 530B of Title 28, the McDade Amendments, requires that federal prosecutors obey state ethical rules. 28 U.S.C. §530B. Section 530B applies to the Attorney General himself. 28 C.F.R. §77.2. DOJ’s regulations apply the ethical rules of the state containing the district in which a case is pending, or if no case is pending, the rules of the state of the attorney’s licensure. 28 C.F.R. §77.4. Mr. Ashcroft appears to be licensed in Missouri. Missouri and Pennsylvania have identical versions of Rule 3.6.3 Additionally, as was described above, Mr. Ashcroft’s remarks violated the Department of Justice’s longstanding regulations on the public release of information, 28 C.F.R. §50.2.

Dismissal is an appropriate remedy for prosecutorial misconduct where it “substantially influenced the grand jury’s decision to indict” or “if there is a grave doubt that the decision to indict was free from substantial influence of such violations.” Bank of Nova Scotia v. United States, 487 U.S. 250, 256 (1988). See also United States v. Sigma Intern., Inc., 244 F.3d 841, 856-58, 870-73 (11th Cir. 2001)(dismissing indictment for improper comments to the grand jury, including statements implying that defendants had engaged in other criminal conduct.), vacated by 251 F.3d 1358 (11th Cir. Fla. 2001); United States v. Lopez, 4 F.3d 1455 (9th Cir. 1991) (an ethical violation could result in dismissal of an indictment if the government’s conduct “caused substantial prejudice to the defendant and had been flagrant in its disregard for the limits of appropriate professional conduct.”) Courts may exercise their supervisory power to dismiss indictments when prosecutors violate specific statutory or regulatory prohibitions. United States v. Williams, 504 U.S. 36, 46 & n.6 (1992).
This case presents an extraordinarily strong one for dismissal for three reasons. First, the improper statements came from the top: the Attorney General himself, rather than from a law enforcement agent or an Assistant United States Attorney. Statements from the nation’s highest law enforcement officer are likely to be especially influential with grand jurors and prospective jurors. Further, the government can hardly complain that it is unfair to impute this individual’s comments to the government itself. Second, after September 11, there can be no more inflammatory remark than linking a person of Middle Eastern descent with the September 11 terrorists, and the Attorney General should know it. Associating a defendant with La Cosa Nostra pales in comparison. Third, Mr. Ashcroft’s statements were false. Much prejudicial pre-trial publicity arises from statements that though improper, are true, such as a description of the defendant’s confession or his criminal history. There never has been any evidence linking any of the Hazmat defendants to terrorism and as long ago as September 27, Director Mueller of the FBI said so.

Mr. Ashcroft’s September 25 statements create “a grave doubt that the decision to indict was free from substantial influence of such violations,” Bank of Nova Scotia v. United States, 487 U.S. at 256. Given the extraordinary nature of the statements, dismissal is the appropriate remedy.

III.
The Court Should Order Disclosure of Grand Jury Transcripts Pursuant to Rule 6(E)(3)(C)(ii)
Rule 6(e)(3)(C)(ii) specifically permits disclosure of grand jury transcripts “when permitted by a court at the request of the defendant, upon a showing that grounds may exist for a motion to dismiss the indictment because of matters occurring before the grand jury.” As has been described, Mr. Ashcroft’s statements are grounds for a motion to dismiss. To decide this motion, the court and the defense should have the opportunity to review the grand jury transcripts and determine if the grand jurors discussed the publicity with the AUSA or whether they were voir dired regarding their ability to be impartial. See United States v. Serubo, 604 F.2d 807.

In Serubo, the Court of Appeals ruled that the prosecutor’s conduct before the grand jury, including remarks suggesting an association between the target and organized crime, would justify dismissal of the indictment. However, the remarks were made to the first panel to hear evidence in the matter, and it was unclear whether the AUSA read those portions to the second panel, the one that returned the indictment. The Court remanded the case for production of the complete transcripts to the defense to determine this issue as well as whether the prosecutor made other improper remarks or asked other improper questions. Id. at 818-19.

Here, as in Serubo, there already is evidence of improper conduct that may have influenced the grand jury: Mr. Ashcroft’s September 25 remarks. See United States v. Fischbach & Moore, Inc., 576 F.Supp. 1384, 1394 (W.D.Pa. 1983). If the Court does not believe that these remarks alone justify dismissal, the court should permit inspection of the grand jury transcripts.

IV.
The Court Should Grant a Subpoena Duces Tecum to PennDOT Under Rule 17 to Assist in Prosecution of the Defense’s Selective Prosecution Claim

Rule 17(c) authorizes the production of documents prior to where the movant shows “(1) that the documents are evidentiary and relevant; (2) that they are not otherwise procurable reasonably in advance of trial by exercise of due diligence; (3) that the party cannot properly prepare for trial without such production and inspection in advance of trial and that the failure to obtain such inspection may tend unreasonably to delay the trial; and (4) that the application is made in good faith and is not intended as a general “fishing expedition.” United States v. Nixon, 418 U.S. 683, 699-700 (1974). PennDOT’s records should be produced as relevant to adjudicate a selective prosecution claim.

Selecting a defendant for prosecution based upon his ethnicity violates the Fifth Amendment’s Equal Protection Clause. Wayte v. United States, 470 U.S. 598 (1985); Yick Wo v. Hopkins, 18 U.S. 356 (1886). To establish this claim, the defense must obtain evidence that other non-Middle Eastern individuals who obtained CDLs improperly from _____ were not prosecuted. PennDOT would have records to provide a factual basis for this claim.

The Supreme Court’s ruling in United States v. Armstrong, 517 U.S. 456 (1996), that a defendant making a selective prosecution claim must establish a prima facie case before obtaining discovery on it from the government does not apply here. Armstrong dealt with Rule 16 discovery from the prosecution, not the issuance of a Rule 17 subpoena to a third party. The difference is more than one of form. The Supreme Court’s concern was to protect the government from needlessly disclosing prosecutorial strategy. The records I seek are PennDOT’s, not the prosecution’s; since PennDOT is not a prosecutorial agency, its records cannot reveal prosecutorial strategy.

VII.
The Court Should Appoint Professor Edward Bronson to Conduct a Venue Analysis

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees to each defendant the right to a fair and impartial jury. Where there is a reasonable likelihood that pre-trial publicity has prejudiced the pool of potential jurors, the court is required to change the venue to protect the defendant’s rights to a fair and impartial trial. Sheppard v. Maxwell, 384 U.S. 333, 363 (1966); Irvin v. Dowd, 366 U.S. 717 (1961); Rideau v. Louisiana, 373 U.S. 723, (1963); Rule 21(a), Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure 
The standard for change of venue in a federal prosecution under Rule 21(a) assures a defendant even more protection against prejudicial pre-trial publicity and community passion than the constitutional standard. It does not require “the same certainty which warrants the reversal of a conviction” under the due process standard. United States v. Marcello, 280 F.Supp. 510, 513 (E.D.La. 1968), affirmed, 423 F.2d 993 (5th Cir. 1970). Under Rule 21 (a), “the well-grounded fear” that the defendant will not receive a fair and impartial trial requires a change of venue. United States v. Marcello, 280 F.Supp. at 513. See also United States v. Mazzei, 400 F. Supp. 17 (W.D. Pa. 1970)(ordering a transfer of venue under the provisions of Rule 21(a) because of adverse pre-trial publicity received by the defendant who was a former member of the senate of Pennsylvania). 

The Criminal Justice Act, 18 U.S.C. §3006A, authorizes the appointment of experts to assist in defense preparation and litigation. In many cases, federal courts have ordered the appointment of venue experts to assist in change of venue motions. See National Jury Project, Jurywork: Systematic Techniques, Appendix A (2d ed. 2000).

Professor _____ of California State University is an experienced and respected expert who has been appointed in such cases. He has consulted in cases ranging from the challenges to death-qualified juries that culminated in Grigsby v. Mabry, 758 F.2d 226 (8th Cir. 1985), rev’d sub nom Lockhart v. McCree, 476 U.S. 162 (1986), to the Oklahoma bombing case and the Unabomber case. He currently is working on several cases involving Arab defendants, including the trial of the fifth defendant, _____, in the Embassy bombing case in the Southern District of New York. (His CV is attached as Exhibit E to the Motion).

Professor _____’s method, as he explained it to me, entails a telephone survey of several hundred community members both in the district and an alternative district to determine their attitudes, analysis of those results and a survey and content analysis of the media reports concerning the case. Only after such surveys and analysis can it be determined if a fair trial is possible in this district and whether another district would be any better.







Respectfully submitted,







__________________________________







Attorney
Footnotes:

1
Rule 3.6 applies to all lawyers participating in an investigation or litigation. This rule applies to the Attorney General as it is he who has the statutory authority to conduct litigation on behalf of the United States. United States v. Nixon, 418 U.S. 683, 694 (1974). 28 C.F.R. §50.2 applies to all Department of Justice personnel.

2
The defense trusts that Mr. Ashcroft will understand that such an order prohibits further comments associating the Hazmat prosecutions with the government’s anti-terrorism efforts.

3
Missouri’s Rules of Professional Conduct are available at www.courtrules.org.

